A.  SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

 

 Mr. Anderson was charged with possession of a stolen motor 

vehicle.  During jury selection, the trial court ordered a specific 

individual, who was presumably a court staff member, to question a 

potential juror about his right to serve on a jury.  This inquiry took 

place outside of the courtroom.  The issue was not addressed again, but 

the record indicates the potential juror was dismissed for cause.  This 

violated Mr. Anderson’s right to a public trial.  In addition, because Mr. 

Anderson was not present during the questioning, the court’s actions 

violated his constitutional right to be present.  Reversal is required. 

 At trial, the court admitted evidence of Mr. Anderson’s attempt 

to flee from police and the force they used to place him under arrest, 

including tasing him.  Because there were two unrelated outstanding 

warrants against him, any inference of consciousness of guilt from Mr. 

Anderson’s attempt to flee was nothing more than speculation.  In 

addition, evidence of his being tased, including details about how a 

taser works and a photograph showing the taser darts in Mr. 

Anderson’s back, was irrelevant and highly prejudicial.  The trial court 

erred when it allowed this evidence in over Mr. Anderson’s objection, 

and this Court should reverse. 
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B.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR   

 1. The trial court violated Mr. Anderson’s constitutional 

right to a public trial. 

 2. The trial court violated Mr. Anderson’s constitutional 

right to be present. 

 3. The trial court erred when it admitted evidence of Mr. 

Anderson’s attempt to flee from police.  

 4. The trial court erred when it admitted evidence of the 

force used by officers to apprehend Mr. Anderson. 

 5. The imposition of legal financial obligations is 

improper because Mr. Anderson lacks the ability to pay. 

C.  ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

 

 1. Jury selection implicates a defendant’s right to a 

public trial under article I, sections 10 and 22.  A trial court may 

order potential jurors be questioned outside of the courtroom 

only if it performs an analysis of the five factors articulated in 

State v. Bone-Club.1  Where the trial court ordered a potential 

juror be questioned about his fitness to serve on the jury outside 

                                                
 1 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).   
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of the courtroom without performing a Bone-Club analysis, did 

the court violate Mr. Anderson’s right to a public trial? 

 2. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, 

section 22 protect a defendant’s right to be present at all critical 

stages of trial, which includes jury selection.  Where the trial 

court ordered a potential juror to be individually questioned 

outside the presence of the parties, did it violate Mr. Anderson’s 

constitutional right to be present? 

 3. Evidence must be relevant and more probative than 

prejudicial to be admitted at trial.  Where the trial court admitted 

evidence of Mr. Anderson’s attempt to flee from police, and 

their efforts to apprehend him, including detailed testimony 

about tasing him, did the trial court commit reversible error?  

4. RCW 10.01.160 mandates waiver of costs and fees for 

indigent defendants, and the Supreme Court recently emphasized that 

“a trial court has a statutory obligation to make an individualized 

inquiry into a defendant’s current and future ability to pay before the 

court imposes LFOs.”2  Here, the trial court recognized that Mr. 

Anderson was unable to pay but determined that it was required to 

                                                
 2 State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 830, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). 
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impose the legal financial obligations regardless.  Should this Court 

remand with instructions to strike the fees and costs? 

D.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Bryan Dugdale owned a Nissan Maxima, which was 

purchased used by his father in Montana.  1 RP 150.  Mr. 

Dugdale drove the car for about a year, but parked it 

permanently in back of his apartment after it began stalling out.  

1 RP 151-52.  After Mr. Dugdale made arrangements to sell the 

car to his neighbor, he removed the registration from the car and 

locked it.  1 RP 154.  A few days later, he received a text 

message from his neighbor, asking where the car had gone, and 

Mr. Dugdale realized it had been stolen over the weekend.  1 RP 

156-57. 

 A sergeant with the Spokane Police Department noticed 

a car with Montana plates and confirmed it was the Maxima that 

had been reported stolen.  1 RP 188.  After the car stopped at a 

business and the sergeant boxed the vehicle in, he approached 

the driver, who was later identified as Ian Anderson.  1 RP 189-

90, 193.  Mr. Anderson was initially compliant with the 

sergeant’s demands.  1 RP 194.  Mr. Anderson kept his hands on 
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the steering wheel and explained to the sergeant he had 

borrowed the car.  1 RP 194.   

 Once back-up arrived, the sergeant ordered Mr. 

Anderson out of the car.  1 RP 194.  Mr. Anderson complied, 

but when the sergeant attempted to handcuff him, Mr. Anderson 

ran.  1 RP 197.  Another officer grabbed Mr. Anderson and they 

took him to the ground by force.  1 RP 197-98.  An officer tased 

Mr. Anderson, and Mr. Anderson was handcuffed shortly after.  

1 RP 200.  Mr. Anderson asked one of the officers what he was 

being arrested for and the officer responded that he was under 

arrest for possession of a stolen motor vehicle and an 

outstanding warrant.  1 RP 177; CP 4. 

 At the start of jury selection, immediately before the 

prospective jurors were brought into the courtroom, the State 

notified the court that one juror had a felony conviction and it 

wanted to establish that the juror’s rights had been restored.  1 

RP 5.  The trial court indicated that a specific individual, who 

was presumably a court staff member, could inquire of the juror 

outside the courtroom and release him if he indicated his rights 

had not been restored or if he did not know whether his rights 
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had been restored.  1 RP 6-7.  The parties did not discuss this 

juror again on the record, but the Record of Additional Jurors 

indicates he was struck for cause.  Supp. CP __ (sub no. 21).       

 In a motion in limine, Mr. Anderson moved to exclude 

testimony about his initial failure to comply with the arrest.  1 

RP 123.  He also moved to exclude two exhibits proposed by the 

State, one of which showed the taser darts embedded in Mr. 

Anderson’s back and one of which showed the marks on his 

back left by the taser darts.  1 RP 124.  The trial court denied 

this motion, finding that any evidence of Mr. Anderson’s 

attempt to flee or resist arrest was admissible, including the fact 

that the officer tased him.  1 RP 132.  The court initially 

reserved its ruling on whether the photographs were admissible 

but later admitted the photograph of the taser darts on Mr. 

Anderson’s back over his objection.  2 RP 215; Ex. 10.  The 

sergeant subsequently testified at length about how a taser 

operates.  2 RP 216. 

 A jury convicted Mr. Anderson of possession of a stolen 

motor vehicle.  CP 37.  He was sentenced to 50 months 

incarceration.  CP 42.  At sentencing the judge recognized Mr. 
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Anderson was unable to pay any fines and costs and stated, “I 

would totally waive these fines and costs but I can’t.”  2 RP 330.  

Finding that it was obligated to impose certain legal financial 

obligations (LFOs) regardless of Mr. Anderson’s ability to pay, 

it imposed fees and costs totaling $800.  2 RP 330; CP 45.   

E.  ARGUMENT 

 

1. Mr. Anderson’s right to a public trial was violated when the 

trial court ordered a potential juror be individually 

questioned outside of the courtroom.  

 

a. A trial court may not question potential jurors outside of the 

courtroom without performing a Bone-Club analysis. 

 

 “Our constitution flatly prohibits secret tribunals and Star 

Chamber justice.”  State v. Slert, 181 Wn.2d 598, 603, 334 P.3d 

1088 (2014).  Article I, section 10 requires that in all cases, 

justice “be administered openly.”  Article I, section 22 

guarantees a criminal defendant the right to a “public trial by an 

impartial jury.”  These “provisions echo the United States 

Constitution’s Sixth Amendment, applicable to the states 

through the Fourteenth Amendment due process clause.”  State 

v. Fort, ___ Wn. App. ___, ___ P.3d ___, No. 26830-6-III, slip 

op. at 12 (filed Sept. 15, 2015); Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 

44, 104 S.Ct. 2210, 81 L.Ed.2d 31 (1984).  The right to a public 
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trial provides for both accountability and transparency and “is a 

core safeguard in our system of justice.”  State v. Wise, 176 

Wn.2d 1, 5, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012).      

 While not every interaction between the court and the 

parties implicates the right to a public trial, “logic and 

experience” demonstrates that jury selection does.  State v. 

Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 71, 292 P.3d 715 (2012); State v. 

Russell, ___ Wn.2d ___, ___ P.3d ___, No.85996-5, 2015 WL 

4949899 at *5 (filed Aug. 20, 2015) (citing State v. Brightman, 

155 Wn.2d 506, 515, 122 P.3d 150 (2005)).  “A trial court may 

question potential jurors individually outside of the public’s 

presence – thereby closing the courtroom – but only after 

considering the five Bone-Club factors on the record.”  State v. 

Frawley, 181 Wn.2d 452, 459, 334 P.3d 1022 (2014); see also 

State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).          

 Public trial violations are structural error and may be 

raised for the first time on appeal.  State v. Slert, 181 Wn.2d 

598, 603, 334 P.3d 1088 (2014).  When the trial court closes a 

courtroom without performing a Bone-Club analysis, a new trial 

is the appropriate remedy.  Frawley, 181 Wn.2d at 459.  This 
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Court reviews a public trial violation de novo.  State v. Paumier, 

176 Wn.2d 29, 34, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012).     

b. Reversal is required because the trial court ordered the 

potential juror be questioned outside of the courtroom about 

whether his civil rights had been restored. 

 

 Immediately before the prospective jurors were brought into the 

courtroom, the State alerted the court it had learned Juror 31 had a prior 

felony conviction and stated, “we would need to establish that his rights 

have been restored.”  1 RP 5.  The deputy prosecuting attorney did not 

indicate how she learned about the felony conviction or provide any 

details about the conviction.  Instead, she informed the court: 

I don’t believe, to my knowledge, that the jury 

coordinators do anything to assess that.  The way I’ve 

handled it in the past is had them brought in individually 

to see if they know if their rights have been restored.  

Given the age of it, it somewhat becomes convoluted 

because they generally don’t have a very good memory 

that far back. 

 

1 RP 5-6.   

 The trial court ruled that an inquiry of Juror 31 would be 

conducted outside of the courtroom by an individual identified 

only as “Ms. Ottoson.”  1 RP 6.  If Juror 31 informed Ms. 

Ottoson that his rights had not been restored, or if he was unsure 

whether his rights had been restored, Juror 31 would be released 
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from jury service without further consideration.  1 RP 7.  The 

issue was not addressed again on the record, but the Record of 

Additional Jurors reflects that Juror 31 was ultimately struck for 

cause.  Supp. CP __ (sub no. 21).  

 Before isolating Juror 31 from the rest of the jury panel 

and instructing Ms. Ottoson to interview him outside of the 

courtroom and the parties’ presence, the court did not perform a 

Bone-Club analysis. 1 RP 6-7.  It simply directed that the juror 

be questioned and released unless he was certain his civil rights 

had been restored.  Id.   

 This questioning violated Mr. Anderson’s public trial 

right.  Our Supreme Court has repeatedly held that the 

individual questioning of potential jurors outside the courtroom 

is a closure that creates the presumption of prejudice.  See Wise, 

176 Wn.2d at 1118; Paumier, 176 Wn.2d at 35; State v. 

Shearer, 181 Wn.2d 564, 574, 334 P.3d 1078 (2014); see also 

Fort, ___ Wn. App. ___, ___ P.3d ___, No. 26830-6-III, slip op. 

at 18 (recognizing that “the Supreme Court solidified the role of 

the public trial right in the context of voir dire” and finding a 

public trial right violation where counsel and the trial court 
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questioned potential jurors in chambers).  In Paumier, the court 

found that the trial judge’s individual questioning of potential 

jurors in chambers about private matters, including their health 

issues, criminal history, and familiarity with the defendant and 

the crime, violated the defendant’s right to a public trial.  176 

Wn.2d at 33, 35.  Finding reversal warranted, the court held “the 

trial court erroneously closed the courtroom when it privately 

questioned potential jurors during voir dire without first 

conducting a Bone-Club analysis.”  Id. at 35. 

 In Shearer, there was a question about whether a juror 

was disqualified from jury service due to a criminal conviction.  

181 Wn.2d at 568.  The judge conducted an in-chambers 

conference with the juror and the parties, but no record was 

made of what occurred during that meeting.  Id.  The State 

argued the closure was merely for a “ministerial or 

administrative matter” and therefore did not implicate the right 

to a public trial.  Id. at 574.  The court disagreed, finding 

Paumier controlled and the court violated the defendant’s article 

I, section 22, public trial rights when it evaluated the juror’s 



 12 

fitness to serve in chambers without performing a Bone-Club 

analysis.  Id.       

 Paumier and Shearer control here.  Just like in Shearer, 

a question arose as to whether Juror 31 was qualified to sit on 

the jury given a past criminal conviction.  Similar to considering 

the State’s challenge to the juror’s fitness in chambers, as the 

court did in Shearer, the trial court here delegated the task to 

Ms. Ottoson, who conducted the inquiry outside the presence of 

the judge, the parties, and the public.  This violated Mr. 

Anderson’s public trial rights.  See Paumier, 176 Wn.2d at 35; 

Shearer, 181 Wn.2d at 574.   

 Public trial rights violations are not subject to a 

harmlessness analysis.  Shearer, 181 Wn.2d at 573.  This Court 

should reverse.  

2. The trial court violated Mr. Anderson’s right to be present 

during a critical stage of his trial. 
 

 The fundamental right of a criminal defendant to be 

present at all critical stages of his trial is protected by the Sixth 

and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, section 22.  State v. 

Irby, 170 Wn.2d 874, 880-81, 246 P.3d 796 (2011); Snyder v. 

Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 105-06, 54 S.Ct. 330, 78 L.Ed. 674 
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(1934) (overruled in part on other grounds by Malloy v. Hogan, 

378 U.S. 1, 84 S.Ct. 1489, 12 L.Ed.2d 653 (1964)).  The right to 

be present is rooted in the confrontation clause of the Sixth 

Amendment, but is also protected by the Due Process Clause 

where the defendant is not confronting witnesses against him.  

United States v. Gagnon, 470 U.S. 522, 526, 105 S.Ct. 1482, 84 

L.Ed.2d 486 (1985).   

 There are some limitations on this right.  A defendant 

does not have the right to be present when his “presence would 

be useless, or the benefit but a shadow.”  Snyder, 291 U.S. at 

106-07.  This is not true during jury selection.  “Jury selection is 

the primary means by which a court may enforce a defendant’s 

right to be tried by a jury free from ethnic, racial, or political 

prejudice.”  Gomez v. United States, 490 U.S. 858, 873, 109 

S.Ct. 2237, 104 L.Ed.2d 923 (1989).  During the selection of 

jurors, it is within the defendant’s “power, if present, to give 

advice or suggestion or even to supersede his lawyers 

altogether.”  Irby, 170 Wn.2d at 883.  Thus, where the charge is 

a felony, the right to be present attaches “at least from the time 

when the work of empaneling the jury begins.”  Id. (quoting 
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Lewis v. United States, 146 U.S. 370, 374, 13 S.Ct. 136, 36 

L.Ed. 1011 (1892)) (emphasis added).   

a. Mr. Anderson had a fundamental right to be present during 

the inquiry of Juror 31.      

 

 In Irby, the court contacted counsel for the parties by 

email to inform them that four jurors had been excused by the 

court administrator, two jurors had job-related hardships, and 

four jurors had a parent who was murdered.  170 Wn.2d at 878.  

The judge asked the attorneys if they wanted to release these 

jurors.  Id.  Both lawyers agreed to release seven of the ten 

jurors at issue, and the State objected to the release of three of 

the jurors who had a parent who had been murdered.  Id.  On 

appeal, the defendant asserted that the court’s release of seven 

jurors based on its email exchanges with counsel violated his 

right to be present at all critical stages of his trial.  Id. at 879.  

Our Supreme Court agreed, finding the email exchange was a 

part of the jury selection process because the jurors were being 

“evaluated individually and dismissed for cause.”  Id. at 882.   

 Similar to Irby, Juror 31 was being evaluated 

individually and was ultimately dismissed for cause.  The State 

indicated Juror 31 had a felony conviction, without providing 
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any basis for its assertion, immediately before the prospective 

jurors entered the courtroom to be sworn in.  1 RP 5-8.  Had the 

State not flagged this issue when it did, Juror 31 would have 

been brought into the courtroom with the rest of the jury panel.   

 The trial court determined Juror 31 should be questioned 

in private and ruled that even if he was just unsure whether his 

civil rights had been restored, he would be removed from the 

jury pool regardless of the actual status of his rights.  1 RP 6-7.  

This ruling failed to appreciate that it was highly likely Juror 

31’s civil rights had been restored, whether he was aware of it or 

not.  Under RCW 2.36.070(5), a person is competent to serve as 

a juror unless he “[h]as been convicted of a felony and has not 

had his or her civil rights restored.”  But the right to vote is 

“provisionally restored as long as the person is not under the 

authority of the department of corrections.”  RCW 

29A.08.520(1).  This provisional restoration may be revoked 

only if the individual fails to pay his legal financial obligations.  

RCW 29A.08.520(2)(a).   

 Given the deputy prosecuting attorney’s statement that 

Juror 31 would be required to have a memory that went “far 
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back” in order to recall whether his rights had been restored 

following his conviction, it was unlikely he remained under the 

authority of DOC.  1 RP 6.  In addition, if Juror 31 believed he 

had registered to vote, a quick check of the state’s voter 

database could have resolved any concerns about whether his 

civil rights had been restored.  See RCW 29A.08.520(4).3  

However, Mr. Anderson was unable to raise any of these issues 

because he was denied the right to be present during the 

questioning of the juror. 

 Whether Juror 31 believed he was eligible to serve on the 

jury was not determinative of whether he was actually fit to 

serve under the law, and the trial court should not have directed 

him to be released after a perfunctory inquiry by a staff member.  

Because the court ordered Juror 31 to be questioned alone, 

outside of the courtroom and the presence of either party, Mr. 

Anderson was unable to evaluate Juror 31’s response to the 

inquiry about the status of his civil rights or take a position 

about whether the prospective juror was competent to serve.  

                                                
 3 Pursuant to RCW 29A.08.520(4), “The county clerk shall enter into a database 

maintained by the administrator of the courts the names of all persons whose provisional 

voting right have been revoked, and update the database for any person whose voting 

rights have subsequently been restored pursuant to subsection (6) of this section.” 
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This violated Mr. Anderson’s right to be present.  U.S. Const. 

amend. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22.  

b. Because the State cannot demonstrate Juror 31 had no 

chance to sit on the jury, the violation of Mr. Anderson’s 

constitutional right to be present is not harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt. 

 

  The burden is on the State to demonstrate the violation 

of Mr. Anderson’s right to be present was harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt.  Irby, 170 Wn.2d at 886.  When a court 

releases a potential juror in violation of a defendant’s right to be 

present, the State must demonstrate that the excused juror had 

“no chance” to sit on the jury.  State v. Slert, ___ Wn. App. ___, 

___ P.3d ____, No. 40333-1-II, 2015 WL 5042148 at *2 (filed 

Aug. 26, 2015).   

 The State cannot demonstrate that here.  Similar to both 

Slert and Irby, where the jurors may have been seated had they

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