I.  APPELLANT’S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court violated Mr. Anderson’s constitutional right 

to a public trial.   

2. The trial court violated Mr. Anderson’s constitutional right 

to be present. 

3. The trial court erred when it admitted evidence of 

Mr. Anderson’s attempt to flee from police.  

4. The trial court erred when it admitted evidence of force 

used by officers to apprehend Mr. Anderson.   

5. The imposition of legal financial obligations is improper 

because Mr. Anderson lacks the ability to pay.

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

5
 In Irby, the Court noted: 

 

As noted above, Irby was not present during this discussion 

because he was in his jail cell. Furthermore, because the 

trial judge sent his initial e-mail at 1:02 p.m., and Irby's 

attorneys replied at 1:53 p.m., it is unlikely that the 

attorneys spoke to Irby about the email in the interim. Even 

if “[d]efense counsel had time to ... consult him regarding 

excusing some of the jurors if they chose to do so,” as the 

State suggests, Suppl. Br. of Pet'r at 16, “where ... personal 

presence is necessary in point of law, the record must show 

the fact.” Lewis, 146 U.S. at 372, 13 S.Ct. 136. 

Significantly, the record here does not evidence the fact 

that defense counsel spoke to Irby before responding to the 

trial judge's e-mail.  

Irby, 170 Wn.2d at 884. 
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excusal of the disqualified juror for statutory reasons.  There is no error 

here.  See Wilson, 174 Wn. App. at 328-329 (court notes that the bailiff 

acted purely administratively when she excused the two jurors for 

legitimate medical reasons, including that one of the jurors was on 

“narcotic pain killers” and having “problems standing and sitting”).  

Finally, there was no objection to the process and review is not available 

under RAP 2.5.  There is no manifest error when a statutorily disqualified 

juror is excused from service prior to the commencement of voir dire.   

C. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY 

ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF THE DEFENDANT’S 

IMMEDIATE FLIGHT FROM AND RESISTANCE TO HIS 

ARREST.  

 Standard of Review 

 An appellate court reviews decisions excluding or admitting 

evidence at trial under the same standard of review: abuse of discretion. 

State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). Thus, the trial 

court's decision will be reversed only if no reasonable person would have 

decided the matter as the trial court did. State v. Castellanos, 132 Wn.2d 

94, 97, 935 P.2d 1353 (1997).   

 The defendant claims the trial court erred by admitting the facts 

surrounding the immediate arrest of the defendant after the stolen vehicle 
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he was driving was stopped by Sgt. Vigessa.  The trial court did not err in 

this regard. 

 During the arrest process, the defendant was asked by Sgt. Vigessa 

to place his hands behind his back.  RP 195-96.  The defendant 

immediately took off running until he was physically apprehended by 

another officer, Officer Yen, who managed to hold the escaping defendant 

long enough for Sgt. Vigessa to aid in controlling him. RP 197-98.  The 

defendant continued to attempt escape and resist the arrest, even after 

being advised he was under arrest and to stop resisting.  RP 198.  This 

resistance continued until a taser was deployed.  RP 200.  These events 

took place at the scene of the crime where defendant was stopped in the 

stolen vehicle he possessed.   

 The defendant objected to the admission of this evidence at trial, 

originally arguing that the evidence was prejudicial.
6
  RP 127-29. Now, on 

appeal, defendant argues that the reason the defendant attempted to flee 

and resist arrest was because he feared arrest for his other crimes and 

outstanding warrants.  Appellant’s Br. 22.   

 This new “other crime argument” presented as the reason for 

defendant’s flight was not raised in the lower court and may not be raised 

for the first time on appeal. Indeed, an appellate court reviews objections 

                                                 
6
 This was the only argument defendant made.   
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to evidence only on the same ground asserted at trial.  State v. Kirkman, 

159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).  RAP 2.5(a) states that “[t]he 

appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not 

raised in the trial court.” The purpose underlying issue preservation rules 

is to encourage the efficient use of judicial resources by ensuring that the 

trial court has the opportunity to correct any errors, thereby avoiding 

unnecessary appeals. State v. Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 304–05, 253 P.3d 

84 (2011). Accordingly, Defendant Anderson failed to preserve his claim 

for this Court’s review. 

 Additionally, attempted flight in circumstances immediately 

surrounding the crime has long been considered competent evidence.  See 

State v. Bruton, 66 Wn.2d 111, 112, 401 P.2d 340 (1965). This is because 

“flight is an instinctive or impulsive reaction to a consciousness of guilt or 

is a deliberate attempt to avoid arrest and prosecution.” Bruton, 66 Wn.2d 

at 112.  Over a century ago, the Supreme Court announced that “the law is 

entirely well settled that the flight of the accused is competent evidence 

against him as having a tendency to establish his guilt.” Allen v. United 

States, 164 U.S. 492, 499, 17 S.Ct. 154, 41 L.Ed. 528 (1896); and see 

United States v. Ballard, 423 F.2d 127, 133 (5th Cir. 1970) (quoting 
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Wigmore
7
 noting: “[I]t is today universally conceded that the fact of an 

accused's flight, escape from custody, resistance to arrest, concealment, 

assumption of a false name, and related conduct, are admissible as 

evidence of consciousness of guilt, and thus of guilt itself”).   

 Defendant cites State v. Freeburg, 105 Wn. App. 492, 20 P.3d 984, 

987 (2001), as supporting his position that the admission of evidence of 

his immediate attempted flight, escape, and resistance to his arrest is not 

relevant.  Appellant’s Br. 22.  The present case is not a case that should be 

favorably compared to Freeburg, one in which the defendant was not 

arrested until three years following the charged crime. In Freeburg, the 

trial court admitted evidence of a handgun found on Freeburg when he 

was arrested three years after the crime, based on the fact that it was 

evidence of flight. The Court of Appeals reversed, noting no connection 

between the handgun found on the defendant and the charged crime. Here, 

however, the time gap is dissimilar, and involved an obvious and 

immediate attempt at flight followed by resistance to arrest.  The present 

facts create a reasonable and substantive inference that defendant’s 

departure from the scene was an instinctive or impulsive reaction to a 

consciousness of guilt, and was a deliberate effort to evade arrest and 

prosecution. See State v. Hebert, 33 Wn. App. 512, 515, 656 P.2d 1106 

                                                 
7
 WIGMORE, EVIDENCE, § 276 (3d ed. 1940) 
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(1982) (flight from the officer reasonably could be considered a deliberate 

effort to evade arrest and prosecution for the burglary and could also 

reasonably be considered probative of his consciousness of guilt). 

Therefore, the flight and resistance evidence here was considerably more 

relevant and not as prejudicial as in Freeburg.
8
  The trial court did not 

abuse its discretion when it considered the prejudice involved, considered 

the flight and resistance, noting it was immediate and continuing to the 

extreme.
9
  To the extent defendant complains separately regarding the 

                                                 
8
 United States v. Borders, 693 F.2d 1318 (11th Cir. 1982) contains an 

excellent discussion of cases finding flight admissible, as well as cases in 

which flight evidence has been held inadmissible, noting that the latter 

cases contained particular facts tending to detract from the probative value 

of such evidence – such as where the defendant was unaware that he was 

the subject of criminal investigation, or where a great deal of time elapsed 

between the crime and the flight. 

   
9
 Court: 

But this is a series of events where contacted by law 

enforcement the defendant initially tries to, well, he tries to 

flee at one point. He then has to be taken to the ground. He 

then continues to resist and cannot be handcuffed. 

Eventually, because the resistance is so extreme, he is 

tasered by one of the officers and then they’re able to 

finally handcuff him. This all happens in a very short 

period of time when he’s trying to flee the scene. I do think 

that's relevant. I do think its relevance outweighs any 

potential prejudice and I do think it should come into 

evidence. 

 

RP 126-27. 



15 

evidence surrounding his tasering, the court found that evidence relevant 

because it showed the attempted flight and resistance was extreme and 

continuing.  RP 126-27.   

 Additionally, the trial court noted that by chopping out portions of 

the evidence in the case they “would get to the point here we're going to 

be cutting and pasting this so much that it's not going to make sense [to the 

jury].”  RP 129.  The flight and taser evidence was separately admissible 

under the res gestae or “same transaction” exception to ER 404(b), 

“because evidence of other crimes or bad acts is admissible to complete 

the story of a crime or to provide the immediate context for events close in 

both time and place to the charged crime.”
 
 State v. Lillard, 122 Wn. App. 

422, 432, 93 P.3d 969 (2004). 

 The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it admitted 

evidence of defendant’s immediate flight from, and resistance to, his arrest 

for possession of a stolen vehicle.  Additionally, any error in this regard 

was harmless.  To the extent defendant argues that the testimony of 

Ms. Danieal M. Warnken aided him, her testimony was eviscerated upon 

cross examination.  She stated she had bought the car from a Lucas Hainey 

after “someone mentioned [her need for a car] to somebody and they gave 

me a call.”  RP 240.  She agreed she met this complete stranger in a 

parking lot, never examined the vehicle’s registration, and did not notice 
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the Montana plate on the car.  She stated that she never received title, or 

registration; that this complete stranger appeared at a gas station with a 

vehicle that was licensed in a different state in a hurry to sell, wanted cash, 

and that she believed there was no reason to be concerned about that.  

RP 243-44, 249, 252.  Finally, she stated she presently had the bill of sale 

to the car, but then could not explain how the bill of sale that was with the 

defendant in the glove box at the time of his arrest got back to her when 

she had not seen the vehicle since his arrest.  RP 263-64.   

[Prosecutor]. Okay. And you have the bill of sale now? 

 

[Ms. Warnken]. I do have the bill of sale. 

 

[Prosecutor]. Okay. So need you to track with me here. If 

the bill of sale were in the glove box of the car that you 

gave to Mr. Anderson to drive, how would you have it? 

 

[Ms. Warnken]. That's a good question. 

 

[Prosecutor]. Nothing further.   

RP 264 (emphasis added). 

 This testimony seems to have aided the State, not the defendant.   

D. THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO PRESERVE ANY LEGAL 

FINANCIAL OBLIGATION (LFO) ISSUE FOR APPEAL, AND 

THE FEES IMPOSED ARE MANDATORY IN NATURE.  

The defendant failed to object to the imposition of his LFOs.  

Therefore, he failed preserve the matter for appeal.  RAP 2.5.  In its 

consideration of the issue in State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 
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680 (2015), the Washington Supreme Court determined that the LFO issue 

is not one that can be presented for the first time on appeal because this 

aspect of sentencing is not one that demands uniformity.  Blazina, 

182 Wn.2d at 830.  No constitutional issue is involved.  And, as set forth 

later, the statutory violation existing in Blazina applied to discretionary 

LFOs, not mandatory LFOs.  However, the Blazina court exercised its 

discretion in favor of accepting review due to the nationwide importance 

of LFO issues, and to provide guidance to our trial courts.  Id. at 830.  

That guidance has been provided.  Blazina was decided after the January 

2015 sentencing in the instant case.  There is no nationwide or statewide 

import to this present case, and review should not be granted where the 

defendant failed to object and thereby give the trial court the ability to 

make further inquiry as to his ability to pay, if necessary.  Statewide 

appellate procedural rules are of more import in the present case. 

It is a fundamental principle of appellate jurisprudence in 

Washington and in the federal system that a party may not assert on appeal 

a claim that was not first raised at trial.  State v. Strine, 176 Wn.2d 742, 

749, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013).  This principle is embodied federally in Fed. 

R. Crim P. 51 and 52, and in Washington under RAP 2.5.  RAP 2.5 is 

principled as it “affords the trial court an opportunity to rule correctly 

upon a matter before it can be presented on appeal.” Strine, 176 Wn.2d at 
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749 (quoting New Meadows Holding Co. v. Wash. Water Power Co., 

102 Wn.2d 495, 498, 687 P.2d 212 (1984)). This rule supports a basic 

sense of fairness, perhaps best expressed in Strine, where the Court noted 

the rule requiring objections helps prevent abuse of the appellate process: 

[I]t serves the goal of judicial economy by enabling trial 

courts to correct mistakes and thereby obviate the needless 

expense of appellate review and further trials, facilitates 

appellate review by ensuring that a complete record of the 

issues will be available, ensures that attorneys will act in 

good faith by discouraging them from “riding the verdict” 

by purposefully refraining from objecting and saving the 

issue for appeal in the event of an adverse verdict, and 

prevents adversarial unfairness by ensuring that the 

prevailing party is not deprived of victory by claimed errors 

that he had no opportunity to address. 

 

BENNETT L. GERSHMAN, TRIAL ERROR AND 

MISCONDUCT § 6–2(b), at 472–73 (2d ed. 2007) (footnotes 

omitted). 

 

Strine, 176 Wn.2d  at 749-50. 

Therefore, policy and RAP 2.5 favor not allowing review of this 

statutory,
10

 non-constitutional LFO issue. 

1. The LFO’s ordered are mandatory LFO’s 

The $500 crime victim assessment, the $100 DNA 

(deoxyribonucleic acid) collection fee, and the $200 filing fee are 

mandatory legal financial obligations, each required irrespective of the 

defendant’s ability to pay.  State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 96, 102, 

                                                 
10

 Assuming the RCW 10.01.160(3) applied to mandatory fees. 
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308 P.3d 755 (2013).  The $500 victim assessment is mandated by 

RCW 7.68.035, the $100 DNA collection fee is mandated by 

RCW 43.43.7541, and the $200 filing fee is mandated by RCW 

36.18.020(h).  These statutes do not require the trial court to consider the 

offender’s past, present, or future ability to pay.  To the extent that the trial 

court imposed mandatory LFOs, there is no error in the defendant’s 

sentence. 

The court DNA fee imposition statute, RCW 43.43.7541, mandates 

the imposition of a fee of one hundred dollars in every sentence imposed 

for a felony.
11

  To the extent the defendant claims this statute violates the 

due process clause, this argument has been put to rest by this Court’s 

recent decision in State v. Thornton, 188 Wn. App. 371, 353 P.3d 642 

                                                 
11

  RCW 43.43.7541 provides:  

Every sentence imposed for a crime specified in RCW 43.43.754 

must include a fee of one hundred dollars. The fee is a court-

ordered legal financial obligation as defined in RCW 9.94A.030 

and other applicable law. For a sentence imposed under chapter 

9.94.A RCW, the fee is payable by the offender after payment of 

all other legal financial obligations included in the sentence has 

been completed. For all other sentences, the fee is payable by the 

offender in the same manner as other assessments imposed. The 

clerk of the court shall transmit eighty percent of the fee 

collected to the state treasurer for deposit in the state DNA 

database account created under RCW 43.43.7532, and shall 

transmit twenty percent of the fee collected to the agency 

responsible for collection of a biological sample from the 

offender as required under RCW 43.43.754. 
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(2015).  In Thornton, this Court noted that the DNA fee imposition statute 

requires the imposition of the DNA fee in every qualifying case: 

 The language in RCW 43.43.7541 that “[e]very 

sentence imposed for a crime specified in RCW 43.43.754 

must include a fee of one hundred dollars” plainly and 

unambiguously provides that the $100 DNA database fee is 

mandatory for all such sentences. See State ex rel. 

Billington v. Sinclair, 28 Wn.2d 575, 581, 183 P.2d 813 

(1947) (word “must” is generally regarded as making a 

provision mandatory); see also State v. Kuster, 175 Wn. 

App. 420, 424, 306 P.3d 1022 (2013) (DNA collection fee 

is mandated by RCW 43.43.7541). The statute also furthers 

the purpose of funding for the state DNA database and 

agencies that collect samples and does not conflict with 

DNA sample collection and submission provisions of 

RCW 43.43.754(1) and (2). The court thus properly 

imposed the DNA collection fee under RCW 43.43.7541 

for Ms. Thornton’s felony drug conviction. 

 

Thornton, 188 Wn. App. at 374-375. 

 

 Additionally, it should be noted that monetary assessments that are

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